INTHE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD B. WEDDELL,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC01-751

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

_____ /

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RICHARD M. SUMMA ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 890588

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By information filed June 28, 1999, Petitioner Richard Bryant Weddell was charged with the August 5, 1998, dealing in stolen property, a Dewalt 7" grinder, the property of Eastern Shipbuilders, Inc., in contravention of section 812.019(1), Florida Statutes. (R.I,21). A jury trial was held July 1, 1999. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged. (R.I,28). The trial court sentenced appellant to a term of 25 years as an habitual felony offender. (R.II,77,79).

On direct appeal to the First District Court of Appeal, Petitioner's conviction and sentence were affirmed in an opinion certifying and passing upon a question of great importance. The district court ruled that the Florida standard jury instruction regarding the inference arising from possession of property recently stolen constituted an impermissible comment on the evidence similar to the flight instruction disapproved in <u>Fenelon</u> <u>v. State</u>, 592 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992). (App.)

Notice of intent to seek discretionary review was filed by Petitioner on April 9, 2001. On April 11, 2001, this Court issued an order postponing decision on jurisdiction and briefing schedule, ordering Petitioner to file his initial brief on the merits on or before May 7, 2001.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

By written stipulation, and in opening argument, Petitioner

agreed that he was the person who sold a Dewalt 7" grinder, serial number 25534, to the Trading Post Pawn Shop for \$75.00. (R.I,29; R.III,16).

James Ward works as the warehouse foreman for Eastern Shipbuilding Group. (R.III, 18). When the company buys a tool it is stamped with the letters "E.S.G." and also with an inventory number. (R.III,18). The company also stamps the tool with the manufacturer's serial number in order to preserve that information for warranty purposes. (R.III,18). The manufacturer affixes the serial number to the tool with a piece of "stuck on tape" or plastic. (R.III, 20, 21, 26). Eastern stamps or engraves the serial number on the tool because the manufacturer's original serial number usually gets "tore off" after the tool is placed in service. (R.III,21). The grinder does not come with a safety guard, but Eastern modifies the tool by installing a guard, and engraves the serial number under the guard. (R.III, 21-22). The engraving of the manufacturer's serial number also provided a means of monitoring "employee integrity." (R.III,22). That is, Ward could be sure that the employee turned in the same tool that he checked out. (R.III,22). State's exhibit "G" is a Dewalt 7" grinder. (R.III,25). This particular grinder was placed in service at the warehouse on July 20, 1998. (R.III,25). The grinder has "E.S.G." stamped on the top and the tool number "155" stamped on each side. (R.III,21). At trial, Ward observed that the original serial number installed by

the manufacturer remained intact. (R.III,26,30). The company has a system for keeping track of which employee has a particular tool checked out for use. (R.III,23-24). The manufacturers' serial number for this particular grinder is 25534. (R.III,27). The company paid \$158.00 for the grinder when purchased brand new. (R.III,27).

The grinder was checked out for use by employee Diep Nguyen sometime after it was placed in service on July 20, 1998. (R.III,27). Ward was not sure, however, of the precise day that Nguyen checked out the grinder. (R.III,27). Ward said that Nguyen came back two or three days after checking the grinder out to report that it was missing. (R.III,28). Ward could not recall the exact day that Nguyen reported the grinder missing. (R.III,28).

On September 21, 1998, Ward received a call from Nguyen inquiring about the serial number of the missing grinder. (R.III,28). Ward told him the number was 25534. (R.III,29). Nguyen said the grinder was at a pawn shop. (R.III,29). A day or so later, Ward went to the pawn shop and matched up the serial number. (R.III,29). Ward told his boss that the tool number and the letters "E.S.G." had been ground off, but both serial numbers (the original and the engraved) were still on it. (R.III,30).

After Ward got the grinder back, he stamped "E.S.G." and the number "155" on it again. (R.III,30). The marks where the "E.S.G." and "155" were ground off were still visible. (R.III,31). The

company paid the pawn shop \$75.00 to get the tool back. (R.III,31). The pawn shop is located 3 or 4 miles from the warehouse. (R.III,32). Ward placed the grinder back in service and pulled it out of service on the day before trial. (R.III,32).

James Ward has never gone by the name Jack Ward. (R.III,18). James Ward did not sell the grinder to Petitioner, nor did he give Petitioner permission to sell it to the pawn shop. (R.III,32).

Various subcontractors sometimes work at the company. (R.III,33). Subcontractor Glennco Insulation was working at the plant on August 3, 1998. (R.III,33). Ward thought Glennco was working nights. (R.III,34). Glennco was working about 500 feet from where Nguyen was working. (R.III,35).

On cross-examination, Ward said Eastern Shipbuilding had about 325 employees and three or four subcontractors working in the facility. (R.III,36). Eastern also had its own night shift working, consisting of 25 or 30 employees. (R.III,37). There were about 30 to 40 people working at night. (R.III,37). The grinder could have been checked out as early as July 20, 1998. (R.III,38). Nguyen reported the grinder missing after two or three days. (R.III,38).

Ward stated that the engraved serial number placed under the safety guard is not visible after the guard is installed, so the employees would not know the serial number if the original number fell off. (R.III,39). James Ward acknowledged that there is an

employee at Eastern by the name of Mark Ward. (R.III,41). Ward wears a uniform to work every day. (R.III,42).

Diep Nguyen is a welder for Eastern Shipbuilding. (R.III,43). Diep checked out a Dewalt 7" grinder from the tool room some time in July, after July 20th. (R.III,43). Nguyen identified state's exhibit "G" as the grinder that he checked out. (R.III,43). Nguyen could not remember the specific day that he checked the grinder out. (R.III,44). On the particular day that he checked out the grinder, Nguyen was working from 6:00 a.m. to 6:30 p.m. (R.III,45). Nguyen left the grinder near the bow of a boat when he left work at 6:30 p.m. (R.III,45). Glennco employees were working about 500 feet away. (R.III,44). When he came back the next morning it was gone. (R.III,45). Nguyen reported the matter to Ward. (R.III,45). Nguyen found the grinder at a pawn shop on September 21, 1998. (R.III,46).

On cross-examination, Nguyen stated that he did not remember exactly when he checked out the grinder. (R.III,47). Nguyen said he located the grinder in the pawn shop "several months" after it was stolen. (R.III,47). Upon further inquiry, Nguyen said he located the grinder in the pawn shop "at least" two months after it was stolen. (R.III,47). Nguyen said he thought the people working near him were Glennco employees only because James Ward said that's who they were. (R.III,48).

Bob Slaughter is the project manager for Glennco Construction.

(R.III,49). Slaughter hired Petitioner to work for him. (R.III,49). Petitioner did not begin working at Eastern Shipbuilding until August 3, 1998. (R.III,50). Prior to that date, Petitioner was assigned to work at Stone Container. (R.III,50). Petitioner worked the evening shift, from 1:00 p.m. to 11:30 p.m. (R.III,50-51). Slaughter had six employees working out at Eastern. (R.III,52). Eastern also had an evening work crew on duty. (R.III,52).

Brie Hanson works at the Trading Post Pawn Shop. (R.III,54). On Wednesday August 5, 1998, at about 9:15 a.m., Petitioner came into the pawn shop and sold a Dewalt 7" grinder to Hanson. (R.III,54-55). Hanson paid \$75.00 for the grinder. (R.III,55). Petitioner presented his driver's license as a means of identification. (R.III,55). Hanson said that Petitioner told her that he had had the grinder for "awhile." (R.III,56). Hanson did not ask Petitioner what "awhile" meant, nor did Petitioner explain what he meant by "awhile." (R.III,58).

Hanson said she examined the grinder presented by Petitioner and that there was nothing about the grinder that would make her think that it was stolen. (R.III,57). Petitioner presented his driver's license and also left a fingerprint during the course of the transaction. (R.III,57). Hanson said she sees about a hundred people a day at the pawn shop. (R.III,57). Many of the people she sees inform her that they have owned the property for awhile. (R.III,57). Hanson did not make any special note on the pawn

ticket to indicate that Petitioner said he had it for awhile. (R.III,57). Petitioner did not explain what "awhile" meant. (R.III,58). Petitioner did not have any hesitation about producing a driver's license or leaving a fingerprint. (R.III,58). Hanson's boss looked at the grinder and said that \$75.00 was a fair price for a used grinder. (R.III,58-59). Hanson said the grinder was obviously used. (R.III,59).

After the state rested, defense counsel argued on motion for judgment of acquittal that the state had failed to prove that Petitioner had knowledge that the property was stolen or should have knowledge that it was stolen. (R.III,60). In addition, defense counsel argued that:

[t]he state would not even be entitled to the jury instruction on the inference that arises from proof of possession of recently stolen property because this grinder could have been checked out two weeks before Mr. Weddell set foot on Eastern's property and missing at that time there is no possible way he could have stolen it. And the only way he would have known it was stolen is if somebody told him it was stolen when he purchased it.

(R.III,61). The trial court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal. (R.III,67).

Petitioner Richard Weddell testified in his own defense. He began working for Glennco in June of 1998. (R.III,69). Petitioner was first assigned to work at Stone Container, and worked there until August 3, 1998. (R.III,70). On August 3, 1998, Weddell started working at Eastern Shipbuilding Group. (R.III,45). Weddell

said the grinder looks like one he purchased from an individual outside the gate of Eastern Shipbuilding for \$50.00. (R.III,45). Petitioner had never met the individual before. (R.III,71).

Weddell thought it would be a good idea to get a receipt from the individual. (R.III,72). Petitioner identified Defense Exhibit #1 as a receipt that he obtained from an individual who identified himself as "Jack Ward". (R.III,72). The receipt contained Petitioner's signature as well as the handwriting of Jack Ward. (R.II,72). The receipt was admitted into evidence. (R.II,73). Petitioner said he purchased the grinder sometime between August 3 and August 5, 1998. (R.II, 73). He sold the grinder on August 5, 1998. (R.II, 73). Prior to purchase, he examined the grinder to see if there was anything unusual about it. (R.II,73). When he sold the grinder, Petitioner produced his Florida driver's license as identification and also affixed his thumbprint to the pawn ticket. (R.II,74). Petitioner sold the grinder for \$75.00. (R.II,74). He did not do anything to conceal his identity when he sold the grinder. (R.II,74). Petitioner did not think the grinder was stolen when he sold it. (R.II,74). Petitioner admitted to being convicted of 14 prior felonies, and two misdemeanors involving dishonesty or false statement. (R.II,75).

On cross-examination, Petitioner stated that the man who sold him the grinder had a beard and wore a uniform. (R.II,76). The pants were brown with a tan or brown shirt. The man also wore a

"black support back support belt type things." (R.II,76). The man was between 5'8" and 5'10" tall, and weighed between 190 to 200 pounds. (R.II, 76). That was the first time he ever saw the man. (R.II, 76). The man approached Petitioner and asked if he wanted to buy a grinder. (R.II,77). Petitioner looked at the grinder "closely," and did not see any grinding marks on top, but he made sure it had a serial number on it. (R.II, 77). Petitioner said there "didn't seem to be obviously anything removed." (R.II,77). Weddell asked for a receipt to be on the safe side. (R.II,77). The receipt stated that the grinder had a serial number on it, the price of purchase, and the signature of both parties. (R.II,78). Specifically, the receipt said: "received from Richard Weddell \$50.00, Dewalt grinder." (R.II,78). Weddell testified that he was not concerned due to the nature of the transaction, but more because of his past; he needed to be safe. (R.II, 78). Petitioner did not know the man's address, phone number, or date of birth. (R.II, 78). Petitioner did not see any of the Eastern employees using grinders. (R.II,79). The grinder was in relatively good condition, but Petitioner did not think it unusual to buy an almost new grinder for \$50.00. (R.II, 79). The prosecutor asked Petitioner when he "first produce[d]" the grinder. (R.III, 79). Petitioner first produced the receipt in March of 1999. (R.III,79). The prosecutor noted that Petitioner produced the receipt approximately seven months after working at Eastern. (R.III, 79). Petitioner

specifically denied stealing the grinder. (R.II,79).

Susan Graves testified and was recognized by the court as an expert in handwriting comparison. (R.II,82). Graves conducted a test where she took a sample of Petitioner's handwriting and compared it with the receipt introduced into evidence. (R.II,83). The receipt contained three elements, the cursive "Richard Weddell", the cursive "Jack Ward", and some other printed writing. (R.II,86). Graves concluded that the signature of "Richard Weddell" was written by Petitioner, whereas the "other handwriting" on the receipt was written by someone else. (R.II,84). Graves said she gets paid for her services, but does not get any more money for rendering a particular opinion. (R.II,88). Graves said that about half the time she gives a conclusion that is detrimental to the people that hire her. (R.II,89).

On cross-examination, Graves said that as to the printed part: "received from Richard Weddell \$50.00, Dewalt grinder, serial number" the person who wrote "Jack Ward" may or may not have wrote it. (R.II,89). Graves did not render an opinion as to whether Petitioner's best friend could have written part of the receipt six months after the fact. (R.II,89).

The defense rested its case. Petitioner renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal, arguing that nothing refuted his explanation that he purchased the grinder and then turned around and sold it. (R.II,91-92). The trial court denied the motion.

(R.II,93).

Petitioner objected to the state's requested jury instruction regarding recent possession of stolen property on the ground that it would be a violation of due process, as well as vague. (R.II,94,97). Petitioner also argued that the instruction regarding the possession of recently stolen property constituted an "impermissible invasion of the province of the jury" because it indicates what inferences may be drawn from possession of recently stolen property." (R.III,96). Defense counsel argued that the instruction "[t]ells the jury what inference they can draw from the evidence." In overruling the objection, the trial court noted that the contested instruction had been upheld in <u>State v. Young</u>. (R.III,95-97).

In closing argument, the prosecutor argued that the evidence showed that Petitioner stole the grinder when he went to work at Eastern. (R.III,104).

He took it one of the two nights when he first started working there and he turned around and sold it to The Trading Post. That's how he knew it was stolen.

(R.III,105).

In closing argument, defense counsel addressed the matter of when Petitioner first produced the receipt for the grinder. (R.III,108). Defense counsel argued that Petitioner produced the receipt after being charged with the offense. (R.III,108). Counsel further argued that Petitioner did not have to testify, nor did he

have to produce the receipt. (R.III, 109).

In rebuttal, the prosecutor emphasized that Petitioner produced the receipt six months after the incident, and that there was no proof as to who printed the receipt -- it could have been a friend of Petitioner. (R.III,113). Again, the prosecutor commented: "He did it six months later." (R.III,113). The prosecutor argued that "we don't know exactly what day it was taken but I submit it was either August 3rd or August 4th." (R.III,114). Again the prosecutor argued that Petitioner stole the grinder.

I submit to you he put the grinder in his truck, took it out, took it to the pawn shop, sold it the next day. Sometime during the night he ground off the markings.

(R.III,114). The prosecutor further argued that Mr. Diep checked the grinder out sometime between July 20th and August 4th, and it was gone the next morning. (R.III,114). The prosecutor instructed the jurors to "ask yourself when this receipt appeared." (R.III,115). In summary, the prosecutor again opined that "the defendant took the grinder when he was working that night." (R.III,117).

The trial court instructed the jury, inter alia, that "proof of possession of property recently stolen unless satisfactorily explained gives rise to an inference that the person in possession of the property knew or should have known that the property had been stolen." (R.III,118-119). The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged. (R.II,127).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I -- The state failed to prove the essential element that Petitioner "knew" that the grinder was stolen when he pawned it. The state argued that Petitioner either (1) "knew" the grinder was stolen because he stole it; or (2) should have known the grinder was stolen because of its appearance. The state's evidence, however, showed that the grinder was stolen July 20 or 21st, approximately 14 days *before* Petitioner began working at Eastern Shipbuilding. (R.III, 25, 38, 45, 47, 50). Petitioner, therefore, could not have stolen the grinder. The state also failed to prove that a reasonable person should have known that the grinder was stolen on the basis of its appearance. The state's failure of proof lies in the fact that the manufacturer's serial numbers had not been removed and the price paid by petitioner was not unusually low given that the state's witness, the pawn shop employee, testified that the grinder was in "obviously used" condition. (R.III, 26, 30, 57, 59). Moreover, the state conceded in its answer brief below, that the scratch marks on the grinder were "either easy to miss or were not such that they would alert an ordinary person to the fact that the grinder was stolen." (AB, 38). Under these facts, the state failed to prove that Petitioner "knew" that the grinder was stolen when he sold it.

Petitioner's conviction on legally insufficient evidence also violates his federal constitutional right to due process of law in

that the state failed to prove every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Cosby v. Jones</u>, 682 F.2d 1373, 1382 (11th Cir. 1982) (possession of stolen goods a few days after burglary not so recent as to exclude possibility of innocent purchase even if court rejects defendant's unrebutted explanation of acquisition, noting no attempt to conceal goods or identity at pawn shop; evidence therefore legally insufficient)(citing <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)).

ISSUE II -- In his defense, petitioner testified that he purchased the grinder from someone outside of the Eastern plant, that he had no reason to believe that the grinder was stolen, and that there was nothing about the grinder's appearance to indicate that it was stolen. Petitioner's testimony was reasonable and unrebutted and therefore must be accepted as true. Evans v. State, 643 So. 2d 1204, 1206 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), rev. denied, 652 So. 2d 818 (Fla. 1995) (citing <u>Dudley v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 1052 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)). Moreover, even if Petitioner's explanation is rejected not credible, the state's evidence was as still legally insufficient to sustain petitioner's conviction. Cosby v. Jones, 682 F.2d 1373, 1382 (11th Cir. 1982) (citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)).

ISSUE III -- The Florida standard jury instruction regarding the inference to be drawn from unexplained possession of recently stolen property should be abandoned as it constitutes an

impermissible comment on the weight of the evidence in the same manner as the "flight" instruction abandoned in <u>Fenelon v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992).

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