# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD BRYANT WEDDELL,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner.

CASE NO. SC01-751

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

THOMAS H. DUFFY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 470325

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4595 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR Petitioner

###

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

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should answer the certified guestion in the negative.

#### 5. Any Error Would Be Harmless.

In any event, the trial court's giving a court-approved jury instruction would be harmless, even if it were found to be error. Such was the result in <u>Fenelon</u>. Here the State had a strong circumstantial case against petitioner. It was certain that the grinder was stolen and certain that petitioner had sold it, by his own account, a day or so after having received it. Thus, the State would have been able to argue the statutory inference even if the trial court had declined to give the instruction, just as the prosecution may, under <u>Fenelon</u>, argue that flight shows consciousness of guilt. 594 So. 2d at 295. <u>See also Jones v.</u> <u>State</u>, 495 So. 2d 856, 857 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1986) ("The presumption applies . . . where the property is undisputably stolen and the question is who stole it.") For the strength of the State's case, see Issues I and II.

- 33 -

#### ISSUE IV

DID THE TRIAL COURT FUNDAMENTALLY ERR BY GIVING THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION ON PROOF OF POSSESSION OF PROPERTY RECENTLY STOLEN? (Restated)

#### A. PRESERVATION

With commendable candor, petitioner concedes that the argument raised herein was not made below and, not being preserved for appellate review pursuant to section 924.051(3), Florida Statutes, must be presented in the context of fundamental error. Fundamental error is "error which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." <u>Archer v. State</u>, 673 So.2d 17, 20 (Fla.1996)(<u>quoting</u> <u>State v. Delva</u>, 575 So.2d 643, 644-45 (Fla.1991)), <u>cert. denied</u>, 117 S.Ct. 197 (1996).

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The State acknowledges that petitioner's statement of the issue is neutrally cast and that it reflects, by use of the phrase "fundamental error" that the issue was not preserved. It does not acknowledge that the standard of review, i.e., what must be shown to demonstrate that there is any error at all, is abuse of discretion.

## C. STANDARD OF REVIEW

As argued under Issue III-C, the standard of review is abuse of discretion.

## D. BURDEN OF PERSUASION

The State relies upon its argument under Issue I-D.

- 34 -

## E. THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING

The trial court was not afforded an opportunity to address this issue; as set out in Issue III, the trial court did reject another argument addressed to the standard jury instruction.

## F. THE APPELLATE COURT'S RULING

The court below affirmed petitioner's conviction and did not comment upon this issue. 780 So. 2d at 324.(App. A)

#### G. MERITS

In his fourth issue petitioner argues that the standard jury instruction regarding possession of recently stolen property is unconstitutional and that, therefore, the trial court committed fundamental error by giving it. The State respectfully disagrees. It was not error to give the standard jury instruction on possession of recently stolen property, since that instruction does not place the burden of persuasion on the accused nor does it create a mandatory presumption.

The jury instruction of which petitioner complains has been approved by the supreme court, is neutrally balanced, and merely recapitulates the law. By its own terms the standard jury instruction is not a presumption that shifts the burden of proof but, rather, an inference that the jury is free to reject or accept.

<u>State v. Young</u>, 217 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1968), <u>cert. denied</u>, 396 U.S. 853, 90 S.Ct. 112, 24 L.Ed.2d 101 (1969) settled the issue that the standard jury instruction on proof of recently stolen property is not a presumption. Thus, it was not error,

- 35 -

fundamental or otherwise, for the trial court to give the jury the instruction regarding the inference that arises when, as here, a defendant is in possession of recently stolen property. Petitioner's argument is that the jury instruction on possession of recently stolen property is not what it purports to be. That is, it is not an inference, it is a mandatory rebuttable presumption, in violation of <u>Sandstrom v. Montana</u>, 442 U.S. 510, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed. 2d 69 (1979).

It is settled that if a jury instruction merely raises a permissive inference it passes constitutional muster. The instruction here meets that test, as this Court noted in <u>Boone v.</u> <u>State</u>, 711 So. 2d 594, 595 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1998): "The instruction allows the prosecution to show by inference the accused's knowledge of the stolen nature of the property and the accused's intent . . . ." Thus, this Court has held that the instruction does not shift the burden of persuasion to the accused and that it is an inference.

A simple examination of the instruction itself shows that it is not mandatory. First of all, an inference is, by its nature, not a presumption. As the Supreme Court of the United States noted in <u>Francis v. Franklin</u>, 471 U.S. 307, 314-15, 105 S.Ct. 1965, 1971, 85 L.Ed.2d 344 (1985):

A permissive inference does not relieve the State of its burden of persuasion because it still requires the State to convince the jury that the suggested conclusion should be inferred based on the predicate facts proved. Such inferences do not necessarily implicate the concerns of *Sandstrom*. A permissive inference violates the Due Process Clause only if the suggested conclusion is not one that reason and

- 36 -

common sense justify in light of the proven facts before the jury.

(Citations omitted). In <u>Edwards v. State</u>, 381 So. 2d 696, 697 (Fla. 1980), the Florida supreme court noted that the logical link that later was discussed in <u>Francis</u> is present in the recently stolen property instruction. "Since there is a rational connection between the fact proven (the defendant possessed stolen goods) and the fact presumed (the defendant knew the goods were stolen), the inference created by section 812.022(2) does not violate Edwards' due process rights."

Second, the instruction informs the jury that a satisfactory explanation removes the inference. Thus, there is nothing mandatory about the instruction, which applies only in certain factual situations and which has been held to pass constitutional muster, as appellant acknowledges, in <u>Edwards</u> and in <u>State v.</u> <u>Young</u>, 217 So. 2d 567 (Fla. 1968).

Petitioner argues that this Court should disagree with the decision in <u>Edwards</u> because the court misconstrued <u>Barnes v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 412 U.S. 837, 93 S.Ct. 2357, 37 L.Ed.2d 380 (1973) and ignored <u>Sandstrom</u>. IB at 24. The <u>Barnes</u> decision, however, was correctly applied in <u>Edwards</u>, has never been overruled by the Supreme Court, and was deemed to be in a separate line of cases from those in which <u>Sandstrom</u> belongs. <u>Sandstrom</u>, 442 U.S. at 519, 99 S.Ct. at 2457, n.9. Barnes, in contrast to <u>Francis</u> and <u>Sandstrom</u>, considered precisely the type of instruction involved here: possession of recently stolen property. The jury was instructed in that case:

- 37 -

Possession of recently stolen property, if not satisfactorily explained, is ordinarily a circumstance from which you may reasonably draw the inference and find, in the light of the surrounding circumstances shown by the evidence in the case, that the person in possession knew the property had been stolen.

However, you are never required to make this inference. It is the exclusive province of the jury to determine whether the facts and circumstances shown by the evidence in this case warrant any inference which the law permits the jury to draw from the possession of recently stolen property.

412 U.S. at 840, 93 S.Ct. at 2360, n. 3. The Supreme Court held that this instruction was a permissive inference and "that it satisfies the requirements of due process." 412 U.S. at 845, 93 S.Ct. at 2363.

Petitioner argues that the Florida instruction requires the jury to draw an inference. In fact, the instruction by its terms has no such effect. The instruction says that unexplained possession of stolen property "gives rise to" an inference that the defendant knew or should have known the property was stolen. In other words, the instruction merely points out to the jurors that possession of recently stolen goods is relevant to, but not necessarily dispositive of, the question of whether the defendant knowingly trafficked in stolen property.

In sum, no case of the United States Supreme Court has directly or by implication overruled the longstanding decision that the jury instruction here is constitutional. The appellant's point therefore is without merit.

- 38 -

#### ISSUE V

DID THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR? (Restated)

#### A. PRESERVATION

As acknowledged in the Initial Brief, this issue was not preserved for appellate review by a contemporaneous objection to the comments about which petitioner now complains.

## B. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The State acknowledges that the petitioner's statement of the issue is neutrally cast and that it reflects the fact that the issue was not preserved.

## C. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The correct standard of appellate review is whether 'the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial.' Cobb [v. State), 376 So.2d [230) at 232 [(Fla. 1979.)]" <u>State v. Murray</u>, 443 So. 2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984)

#### D. BURDEN OF PERSUASION

The State relies upon its argument under Issue I-D.

## E. THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING

Inasmuch as trial counsel did not object, there was no trial court ruling.

#### F. THE APPELLATE COURT'S RULING

The Court below affirmed appellant's conviction, but did not address this issue. <u>Weddell v. State</u>, 780 So. 2d 324. (App. A).

#### G. MERITS

In his fifth issue appellant argues that the prosecutor's closing argument was impermissible and constituted fundamental

- 39 -

error, excusing trial counsel's failure to object. The State respectfully disagrees. The prosecutor's argument that the defendant stole the grinder is a fair comment on the evidence presented and is an inference permitted by statute, and thus was not error at all, let alone fundamental error. The argument concerning the alleged comment upon silence is not cognizable because such claims cannot constitute fundamental error.

Petitioner argues that the prosecutor committed fundamental error twice in his closing argument. First, he attacks the following argument:

I submit to you that the evidence before you is the defendant stole [the grinder]. He went out there to work that night. Diep Nguyen left it in front of the bow. Glennco Insulation was working 105 feet away. The defendant was there. He took it one of the two nights when he first started working there and he turned around and sold it to The Trading Post. That's how he knew it was stolen. I submit to you that's how the state has proven the second element.

T, 104-105. As he did in the first two issues, appellant relies on the testimony of Diep Nguyen to assert that it was impossible for appellant to have stolen the grinder. As above, therefore, the State submits that Mr. Nguyen's testimony did not conclusively establish any particular date for the disappearance of his grinder. To repeat his testimony:

Q - When you found this grinder in the pawn shop that was several months after it went missing; wasn't it?

A - Yes, sir.

 $\ensuremath{\texttt{Q}}$  - And you don't remember exactly when you checked it out?

A - No.

Q - But you found it September 21. When do you mean by several months, two or more months?

A - Yeah, something like that. I don't know.

 $\ensuremath{\mathtt{Q}}$  - More than one month?

A - I know it is more than two, two at least.

т, 47.

The notion that it was at least a month between the disappearance of the grinder and its being found at the pawn shop was suggested by defense counsel, not Mr. Nguyen. It also is unlikely that it had literally been at least two months, since barely two months had elapsed from the time the grinder went into service until the time it was recovered. Thus, it is entirely likely that Mr. Nguyen was incorrect in his estimate, and that he took the grinder out not on July 20 or July 21 but, rather, on August 3.

Additionally, the fact that the defendant possesses recently stolen property permits more than the inference sanctioned by section 812.022(2), Florida Statutes. As this Court noted in <u>Scobee v. State</u>, 488 So. 2d 595, 598 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1986):

There are two similar, yet separate and distinct, inferences that can be made from proof of possession of recently stolen property: (1) an inference that the possessor stole the property, as in *Walton v. State*, 404 So.2d 776 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), and *Griffin v. State*, 370 So.2d 860 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); and (2) an inference that the possessor knew or should have known the property was stolen.

Thus, the prosecutor could suggest to the jury that it was appellant who stole the grinder.

- 41 -

Moreover, even if this were deemed to be error, it would not constitute fundamental error, i.e., error that "reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." <u>Archer v. State</u>, 673 So. 2d 17, 20 (Fla. 1996) (quoting <u>State v. Delva</u>, 575 So. 2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991)), cert. denied, 117 S.Ct. 197 (1996). Given that the State could prove the charge of dealing in stolen property even if appellant did not actually steal the grinder, and considering the evidence against appellant - his admission that he sold a stolen grinder, his inconsistent statements (telling the clerk at the pawn shop he had had the grinder "a while," alleging at trial he had possessed it less than 24 hours when he sold it), and his admitted haste in disposing of it - this comment is not fundamental error.

The second comment involves the receipt that appellant offered into evidence and that purported to show that he had purchased the grinder from one Jack Ward for \$50. On cross examination, the prosecutor asked appellant, not unreasonably, when he first produced the receipt, and received the answer that it was in March of 1999 (some seven months after the alleged purchase). T, 79. Then, in his closing, the prosecutor argued that the receipt was concocted by appellant in order to provide a defense for himself. T, 112-113. This, petitioner argues, was an improper comment upon his right to remain silent.

- 42 -

The prosecutor's remarks were completely proper. The prosecutor was fair commentary on the defense, pointing out a weakness therein, and was not commenting upon petitioner's failure to testify or failure to give police an explanation upon his arrest. Thus, it is not susceptible of being construed as a comment on petitioner's right to remain silent. <u>See Ruddock v.</u> <u>State</u>, 763 So. 2d 1103(Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999).

In any event, the failure to object and to move for a mistrial is fatal, because "an improper comment on a defendant's right to remain silent is not fundamental error which may be raised on appeal without an objection at trial . . . ." <u>Guiterrez v. State</u>, 731 So. 2d 94, 95 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999); <u>see</u>, <u>also State v.</u> <u>Marshall</u>, 476 So. 2d 150, 153 (Fla. 1985), <u>Woodard v. State</u>, 579 So. 2d 875, 877 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1991).

#### ISSUE VI

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY NOT INCLUDING THE GRINDER ITSELF IN THE RECORD ON APPEAL? (Restated)

## A. PRESERVATION

It appears that this exceedingly minor issue was not preserved for appeal by a contemporaneous objection below. The Supplemental Record shows that the State moved to substitute photographs of the grinder for the actual machine itself, apparently after trial. Defendant's Statement of Proceedings, which were filed March 30, 2000 and approved by the trial judge on June 20, 2000, show that there was no objection by the defendant. S.R. 110, 113.

Thus, the issue was not properly presented to the trial court for resolution, has not been shown to be fundamental error, and is thus not reviewable on appeal pursuant to well settled authority. §924.051(3), Fla. Stat; <u>Amendments to the Florida</u> <u>Rules of Appellate Procedure</u>, 696 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1996); <u>State</u> <u>v. Barber</u>, 301 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974).

In an abundance of caution, however, the State will address the merits.

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

The State acknowledges that petitioner's statement of the issue is neutrally cast and that it reflects the fact that the issue was not preserved below.

- 44 -

## C. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review as to what exhibits may be represented in the record on appeal by photographs is abuse of discretion, inasmuch as there is no requirement in statute or rule that originals be provided.

## D. BURDEN OF PERSUASION

The State relies upon the argument set for under Issue I-D.

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